Chemsex: Questions and Answers

Updates, Authorship, and Related Resources

Date of current publication April 25, 2025

Intended users Primary care clinicians and care providers in other adult outpatient care settings

Lead authors Jeremy D. Kidd, MD, MPH; <u>Justin Alves, MSN, FNP-BC, ACRN, AACRN, CARN, CNE</u>; Rohit

Mukherjee, MD¹

Writing group Susan D. Whitley, MD; Timothy J. Wiegand, MD, FACMT, FAACT, DFASAM; Sharon L.

Stancliff, MD; Brianna Norton, DO, MPH; Narelle Ellendon, RN; Christopher J. Hoffmann, MD,

MPH, MSc; Charles J. Gonzalez, MD

Author and writing group

conflict of interest disclosures

There are no author or writing group conflict of interest disclosures.

Date of original publication April 25, 2025

Committee <u>Substance Use Guidelines Committee</u>

Developer and funder New York State Department of Health AIDS Institute (NYSDOH AI)

Development process See Supplement: Guideline Development and Recommendation Ratings

Related NYSDOH AI

resources

Guidelines

- Doxycycline Post-Exposure Prophylaxis to Prevent Bacterial Sexually Transmitted Infections
- Hepatitis C Virus Screening, Testing, and Diagnosis in Adults
- HIV Testing
- PEP to Prevent HIV Infection
- PrEP to Prevent HIV and Promote Sexual Health
- Rapid ART Initiation
- Substance Use Harm Reduction in Medical Care
- Substance Use Screening, Risk Assessment, and Use Disorder Diagnosis in Adults
- Treatment of Alcohol Use Disorder
- Treatment of Opioid Use Disorder

Guidances

- Clinical Guidance: Stimulant Use
- GOALS Framework for Sexual History Taking in Primary Care
- U=U Guidance for Implementation in Clinical Settings

Podcast

• Viremic—Cases in HIV

¹ Department of Psychiatry, Columbia University



2

Chemsex: Questions and Answers

Date of current publication: April 25, 2025

Lead authors: Jeremy D. Kidd, MD, MPH; <u>Justin Alves, MSN, FNP-BC, ACRN, AACRN, CARN, CNE</u>; Rohit Mukherjee, MD² **Writing group:** Susan D. Whitley, MD; Timothy J. Wiegand, MD, FACMT, FAACT, DFASAM; Sharon L. Stancliff, MD; Brianna

Norton, DO, MPH; Narelle Ellendon, RN; Christopher J. Hoffmann, MD, MPH, MSc; Charles J. Gonzalez, MD

Committee: <u>Substance Use Guidelines Committee</u> **Date of original publication:** April 25, 2025

Contents

What is chemsex?	2
Why do people engage in chemsex?	3
What substances are commonly used during chemsex?	
How can I talk to patients about chemsex?	4
What is harm reduction?	4
Should a patient who engages in chemsex be offered substance use disorder treatment?	5
How can I support patients who want to reduce their participation in chemsex?	5
How can I effectively and nonjudgmentally counsel patients on risk reduction?	5
What are the sexual risks associated with chemsex?	5
What are the drug-related risks associated with chemsex?	6
Which mental health conditions should be considered in patients participating in chemsex?	8
Should I address consent and safety issues with patients participating in chemsex?	9
References	
Supplement: Guideline Development and Recommendation Ratings	12

What is chemsex?

Chemsex, a term used predominantly among some subsets of men who have sex with men (MSM) and transgender individuals, refers to the use of drugs before or during sex with the intent of enhancing or altering the experience [Coronado-Munoz, et al. 2024; Ivey, et al. 2023; Sang, et al. 2021; Evers, et al. 2019; Lawn, et al. 2019; Sewell, et al. 2019]. It is a phenomenon in which drug use and sex have a specific interplay, sometimes influenced by co-occurring sexual compulsivity [Carrico, et al. 2012; Grov, et al. 2010; Kelly, et al. 2009], and can include various types of sex (e.g., oral sex, anal or vaginal penetrative sex, masturbation, online sex, group sex). Although chemsex is most closely associated with stimulants like methamphetamine (MA), it can involve a variety of substances. Alcohol use before sex is common, but alcohol use alone is generally not considered chemsex.

Individual experiences of chemsex vary, but there is often a shared language and culture (see Table 1, below). The shared language and practices of chemsex and its occurrence in marginalized communities differentiate it from other forms of sexualized drug use. Some individuals find sex partners through geosocial networking apps (e.g., Grindr, Scruff), which have their own chemsex language and symbols (emojis). The prevalence of chemsex behaviors is difficult to estimate; most epidemiologic studies of chemsex rely on samples of treatment-seeking individuals [UNAIDS 2024; Harm Reduction International 2021] and likely underestimate prevalence.

Table 1: Common Terms Used To Describe Chemsex		
Colloquial/Slang Term(s)	Meaning	
(parTy) favors	Typically methamphetamines or cocaine	
Bump, booty bump, boof	Use intrarectally or intravaginally	

² Department of Psychiatry, Columbia University



Table 1: Common Terms Used To Describe Chemsex		
Colloquial/Slang Term(s)	Meaning	
G, dose, Gina	GHB, flunitrazepam	
G-out	Overdose on GHB or pass out	
Hit	Sniff or smoke (i.e., inhale)	
Host, travel	Whether or not you are able to go to another location for sex	
K, special K	Ketamine	
K-hole	A type of ketamine overdose resulting in a dysphoric dissociative state	
Overamping	Unpleasant or undesired physical or emotional symptoms from overusing stimulants	
parTy, PnP, party n play	To use drugs and have sex	
Poppers	Amyl nitrates or nitrites	
Rock, hard	Crack cocaine	
Slam	Use intravenously	
Swirl	Initial intoxication/high	
Tina, T	Methamphetamines	
Abbreviation: GHB, gamma hydroxybutyrate.		

Why do people engage in chemsex?

People may engage in chemsex for a variety of reasons, including to:

- · Enhance sexual satisfaction
- Reduce inhibitions or engage in sexual encounters and activities that might feel more intimidating when not under the influence of substances
- Make social connections, especially with other MSM
- Feel sexually desired
- Cope with stigma related to HIV status, sexual orientation, or gender identity; stigma-related victimization; negative body image; loneliness; or social isolation [Jaspal 2022; Ahuja, et al. 2021; Bohn, et al. 2020; Hickson 2018; Pollard, et al. 2018]
- · Offset adverse sexual effects associated with prescribed medications or chronic use of substances such as MA

For individuals engaged in sex work, chemsex participation may be influenced by financial considerations, such as to satisfy a client's request or enhance or sustain sexual performance (e.g., to increase pain tolerance or facilitate longer sessions).

What substances are commonly used during chemsex?

Although substances used during chemsex differ regionally, MA is the most widely used chemsex drug among MSM and transgender women in the United States and is often used in combination with other substances [Rivera, et al. 2021; Nerlander, et al. 2018]. Individuals engaging in chemsex often use multiple substances. For example, a stimulant may be paired with a depressant and a hallucinogen, or cocaine may be paired with sildenafil to address cocaine-induced erectile dysfunction. Benzodiazepines or opioids may be used to counteract post—drug use crash or overamping (i.e., unpleasant/undesired physical or emotional symptoms) from stimulant use. Alcohol and GHB may be used to blunt the effects of stimulants and reduce inhibitions. Opioids may also be used to delay ejaculation or orgasm and to help "come down" from the effects of a stimulant. Synthetic peptides may be used to enhance sexual desire, prolong erections, or counteract drug-induced erectile dysfunction.



Drugs commonly used during chemsex include:

- MA (as mentioned above)
- 3,4-Methylenedioxymethamphetamine (MDMA)
- Prostaglandin E1 (PGE1) inhibitors (e.g., sildenafil, tadalafil)
- Ketamine
- Gamma hydroxybutyrate (GHB)
- Gamma butyrolactone (GBL)
- Cocaine
- Alcohol
- Some nitrates or nitrites ("poppers")
- Some synthetic peptides, including PT-141 and melanotan II, that may be purchased online

See NYSDOH <u>Clinical Guidance: Stimulant Use > Table 1: Characteristics of Commonly Used Stimulants</u> for additional information.

How can I talk to patients about chemsex?

Ask patients frankly and nonjudgmentally about substance use, sexual history, and sexual behaviors. Ask questions that avoid making assumptions and ask for clarification about the meaning of any unfamiliar terms. The goal is to create a space in which all individuals feel comfortable speaking openly about their experiences. See the NYSDOH AI resources GOALS Framework for Sexual History Taking in Primary Care and Clinical Guidance: Stimulant Use > Box 1: Talking With Patients About Substance Use.

To start a conversation about chemsex, clinicians can ask:

- Have you used drugs before or during sex in the last 6 months? If yes, what do you use and how frequently do you use these substances to have sex?
- When was the last time you used drugs or alcohol to make sex more enjoyable? What did you use?
- When was the last time you had sober sex (sex without drugs)? Have you ever had sober sex? Would you like to have sober sex?

For more questions on assessing patients engagement in chemsex, see the Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS (UNAIDS) Chemsex Toolkit > Service Provider Guide to Addressing Chemsex.

Drawing on principles of motivational interviewing can provide a useful framework for these conversations [Miller and Rollnick 2023]. When exploring a patient's reasons for engaging in chemsex, build an alliance by acknowledging and asking about the positive or pleasurable aspects of chemsex, then ask about the less positive aspects of chemsex and explore the patient's perspective on personal risk and harmful consequences. Some individuals engage in chemsex episodically (e.g., on weekends, at parties) and these may be high-risk episodes. Patterns and methods of use will inform harm reduction counseling (see below).

What is harm reduction?

Harm reduction is an approach that uses practical strategies to reduce the negative consequences associated with substance use and sexual practices. It is founded on respect for the rights of individuals who use drugs (see the National Harm Reduction Coalition). A harm reduction approach promotes positive changes such as reducing substance use and using safely to reduce morbidities, including disease acquisition and transmission, without specifying or promoting abstinence as the only or even ultimate goal. This approach also emphasizes avoiding coercion, discrimination, and bias in the clinical care of people who use drugs. See the NYSDOH AI guideline Substance Use Harm Reduction in Medical Care for information on harm reduction resources, including naloxone, sterile needles and syringes, drug-checking supplies, and drug user health hubs.



Should a patient who engages in chemsex be offered substance use disorder treatment?

Ask the patient whether they are interested in reducing their participation in chemsex or changing patterns of substance use. Although some people who engage in chemsex will meet criteria for a *Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders* (*DSM-5*) substance use disorder (SUD), such as stimulant use disorder, chemsex itself should not be equated with an SUD. After discussing a patient's chemsex practices, clinicians can use specific tools for assessing the level of substance use and potential presence of an SUD, if indicated.

See the NYSDOH AI guidelines and guidance:

- Substance Use Screening, Risk Assessment, and Use Disorder Diagnosis in Adults
- Treatment of Alcohol Use Disorder
- Treatment of Opioid Use Disorder
- · Clinical Guidance: Stimulant Use

How can I support patients who want to reduce their participation in chemsex?

Maintain a sex-positive approach. Sober sex, rather than no sex, is the goal. This is not to say that patients will never engage in chemsex again. Instead, the goal is being able to have and enjoy sober sex, thereby reducing the frequency of chemsex and its associated health risks. Support patients in making sober social connections, having satisfying sex without the use of substances, and combating internalized stigma and loneliness.

Be familiar with appropriate interventions and referral resources (if needed). Medications, contingency management, and other behavioral health interventions may be helpful for some patients. A multipronged approach that addresses the component needs of the individual is best. However, not all clinicians or facilities are equipped to provide the various treatments or services an individual needs. Prepare patients for the possibility they may be referred to different care providers and services who will coordinate to address different aspects of their care.

For patients who continue participating in chemsex, harm reduction counseling is an essential intervention.

How can I effectively and nonjudgmentally counsel patients on risk reduction?

Chemsex involves drug- and sex-related risks, which vary from individual to individual. First, ask patients about any steps they are already taking to reduce risks associated with chemsex and offer positive reinforcement.

When discussing the health risks associated with chemsex, refrain from judgment and focus on harm reduction strategies. For example, "I'm here to help you continue having fun sexually (chemsex or not) but with fewer risks and harms."

What are the sexual risks associated with chemsex?

Sexual risks include transmission of or infection with HIV, hepatitis C virus (HCV), and other sexually transmitted infections (STIs), including (but not limited to) gonorrhea, syphilis, and chlamydia [Siddiq, et al. 2023; Amundsen, et al. 2022; Moradi, et al. 2022; Guerras, et al. 2021; Blomquist, et al. 2020; Stevens, et al. 2020; O'Halloran, et al. 2019; Sewell, et al. 2018]. In 2022, 67% of incident HIV infections were among MSM [CDC 2024], and in a study that enrolled participants from October 2017 to June 2018, 1 in 3 infections was among MSM who use meth [Grov, et al. 2020]. Among MSM, MA use is associated with twice the risk of HIV infection and transmission [Colfax, et al. 2010; Ostrow, et al. 2009; Buchacz, et al. 2005]. Inconsistent condom use; condomless sex with multiple partners; and anal, rectal, and penile trauma (from longer or intense sexual encounters) increase the risk of HIV and STI transmission [UNAIDS 2024].

Topics for patient counseling are outlined in Box 1, below.



Box 1: Counseling Patients About Potential Sexual Risks Associated With Chemsex

When counseling patients:

- Educate about and offer the following as appropriate:
 - Pre-exposure prophylaxis (<u>PrEP</u>) for HIV prevention: Discuss event-driven dosing. Long-acting injectable PrEP may be appropriate for individuals with adherence challenges or who participate in chemsex without prior planning or over a long period.
 - Non-occupational post-exposure prophylaxis (PEP) for cases of HIV exposure (consider a PEP-in-pocket approach)
 - Doxycycline PEP (doxy-PEP) for prevention of bacterial sexually transmitted infections (STIs)
- Discuss combinations of drug use and sex that carry the greatest risk for transmitting HIV and other STIs, including engaging in condomless receptive anal sex (bottoming) after intrarectal use of chemsex drugs (booty bumping). For specific chemsex practices that carry a risk of blood exposure, see C: A Guide for Healthcare Providers > Transmission Risks During ChemSex.
- Recommend regular HIV, hepatitis C virus (HCV), and STI screening. See the NYSDOH AI guidelines <u>HIV Testing</u> and <u>Hepatitis C Virus Screening</u>, <u>Testing</u>, and <u>Diagnosis in Adults</u>, as well as those on <u>sexual health care</u>.
- Discuss <u>undetectable = untransmittable (U=U)</u>, which is the scientific finding that people who achieve and maintain an undetectable HIV viral load do not sexually transmit HIV. For individuals with HIV, recommend <u>antiretroviral therapy</u> (ART) initiation and support ART adherence.
- Discuss seropositioning (having the individual with HIV be the receptive partner [bottom]) to further reduce transmission risk.
- Reinforce condom use (external, internal) and educate about alternatives to penetrative sex to avoid transmitting body fluids (e.g., penis sleeves, manual manipulation/satisfaction, sex toys).
- Educate about ways to reduce risks associated with sexual behaviors, such as:
 - Employing safer fisting techniques (e.g., using appropriate lubrication, identifying any blood or fissures, using a glove, and having a step-wise approach to fisting)
 - Managing <u>rectal prolapse</u>
 - Considering risks for gastrointestinal illness (e.g., risks associated with anilingus [rimming])
 - Reducing exposure to body fluids
 - Using sexual devices more safely (e.g., cleansing and sanitizing devices, using condoms on devices and changing between partners, reducing injury with use of lubricants and appropriate sizes, etc.)
 - Performing appropriate wound care and allowing for healing

What are the drug-related risks associated with chemsex?

The risks and relevant harm reduction counseling depend on which substance(s) an individual is using and how they are using them (e.g., injection, inhalation, insufflation, intrarectal, or intravaginal). For example, snorting drugs may cause ulcers in the nasal cavity or a deviated septum, inhalation can damage lungs or lead to barotrauma, injecting drugs may cause skin or soft tissue infections, and intrarectal or intravaginal use can lead to abscesses. Rectal or vaginal use can also cause abrasions and lead to increased risk of acquiring or transmitting HIV and other STIs.

Some individuals take drugs provided to them by other people and may not know exactly what they are using. Additionally, because of intoxication or transient loss of consciousness, individuals may not remember what they have taken. Drug adulteration is also common. For example, the MA supply in the United States is increasingly contaminated with the high-potency opioid fentanyl or other agents such as xylazine [Wagner, et al. 2023]. Although alcohol consumption alone is not generally considered chemsex, use of alcohol along with other substances (e.g., benzodiazepines, opioids) is associated with higher rates of oversedation, overdose, and participation in other high-risk behaviors [Kleinman and Weiss 2022; Tori, et al. 2020; Brown, et al. 2016; Johnson, et al. 2016].

A priority for harm reduction counseling is to help patients develop strategies to prevent drug overdose, overamping (i.e., overuse of stimulants leading to unpleasant/undesired physical or emotional symptoms), and alcohol poisoning; see Table 2, below.



Risk	Strategies
Opioid overdose	Counsel patients to:
	Assume that all nonprescription opioids contain fentanyl or other high-potency synthetic opioids.
	Be aware that stimulants and counterfeit pills may also contain fentanyl, increasing the risk fo opioid-related overdose even when not knowingly using opioids.
	When possible, test drugs for fentanyl and xylazine using test strips or other drug-checking systems.
	Avoid using drugs alone.
	Start with a small amount when using any drug.
	Consider switching to noninjection methods of use.
	Carry naloxone, learn how to use it to reverse an opioid overdose, and encourage friends and contacts to do the same.
	Clinicians can:
	Offer or refer patients to a local or online resource for fentanyl and xylazine test strips and instructions on their use.
	Ensure that patients have access to naloxone.
	See NYSDOH Al guideline <u>Substance Use Harm Reduction in Medical Care > Box 1: Harm Reduction Resources in New York State</u> .
Overamping	Counsel patients to:
(stimulants)	Be aware of factors that can lead to overamping: drug, dose, mode of delivery, duration of use (lifetime and per episode), and any underlying disorders and diseases.
	• Address elements that are most easily modifiable, such as mode of use (e.g., smoking instead of injecting) and dose reduction.
	Adequately eat before use.
	Stay hydrated before and during use.
	 Recognize the symptoms associated with overamping, such as anxiety, paranoia, psychosis, seizure, palpitations, hypertension, hyperthermia, and cardiac and cerebrovascular events [Ciccarone and Shoptaw 2022; Harding, et al. 2022]. If serious complications (e.g., seizures, cardiac or cerebrovascular events) of stimulant use occur, seek emergency treatment.
	• If overamping occurs, hydrate, replenish electrolytes, and remain in a calm environment.
	Clinicians can:
	• Consider prescribing as-needed antipsychotics to manage psychiatric effects associated with chronic methamphetamine use [Coffin, et al. 2024].
	• Ask patients about previous experiences of overamping, which may motivate them to change their behavior.
	Offer early and aggressive preventive care related to cardiac disease.
GHB overdose	Counsel patients to:
	Track and be aware of the timing of each dose; "start low and go slow."
	Be aware of appropriate body positioning to avoid asphyxiation in the event of oversedation.
	Label the bottle containing GHB to avoid mistaking it for another substance.
Ketamine overdose	Counsel patients to:
	 Be aware of how much is being taken and how this differs by mode of delivery (e.g., inhalation vs. insufflation).
	When possible, test with ketamine test strips (see <u>DanceSafe</u>).



Table 2: Strategies for Preventing Overdose During Chemsex		
Risk	Strategies	
Alcohol poisoning	 Counsel patients to: Be careful of mixing alcohol with other depressants (e.g., GHB, benzodiazepines). Substitute water between alcoholic drinks. Be aware of how much is being consumed, that alcohol accumulates in the body, and that effects can have a delayed onset and be minimized by other drug use (i.e., stimulants). Clinicians can: Discuss and consider prescribing event-driven naltrexone to reduce alcohol consumption [Santos, et al. 2022; Heinala, et al. 2001]. 	
Abbreviation: GHB, gamma hydroxybutyrate.		

To address other drug-related risks, clinicians can:

- Encourage noninjection methods of use, educate about syringe services, or prescribe clean syringes; encourage use of
 personal rather than shared drug-use equipment; provide resources, if available, for community organizations that provide
 such materials. See NYSDOH AI guideline <u>Substance Use Harm Reduction in Medical Care > Box 1: Harm Reduction</u>
 Resources in New York State.
- Educate about strategies for safer smoking (e.g., using lip balm) and snorting (e.g., using personal snorting equipment or clean paper instead of dollar bills) to reduce infection risk.
- Educate patients on drug dependence and withdrawal and how to recognize the symptoms: cocaine, MA, GHB/ GBL, and alcohol have a higher risk of dependence and withdrawal symptoms and may require medical treatment; ketamine, MDMA, amyl nitrates, and PGE1 inhibitors have a lower risk.
- Advise on potential drug-drug interactions and effects, such as the risk of:
 - Hypotension when using amyl nitrates with PGE1 inhibitors
 - Oversedation when using GHB with alcohol
 - Hypotension and vomiting when using GHB or alcohol with spironolactone
 - Thrombosis when using cocaine or MA with estrogen
 - Overamping when using ketamine, cocaine, MA, or GHB with boosted protease inhibitors for HIV treatment or with nirmatrelvir/ritonavir (Paxlovid) for COVID-19 treatment
 - Priapism with PGE1 inhibitors
 - Syncope/hypotension (e.g., PGE1 inhibitors can cause syncope/hypotension when used with some cardiac medications [Kloner, et al. 2018])
- Review the patient's medications (prescribed, over-the-counter, and supplements) and advise on interactions between these and drugs used during chemsex.
- Recommend and refer for regular oral health care and preventive screening; use of stimulants is associated with dental caries, teeth loss, gum disease, gingivitis, and aphthous ulcers.
- See NYSDOH AI Clinical Guidance: Stimulant Use > Commonly Used Stimulants: Characteristics and Adverse Effects.

Which mental health conditions should be considered in patients participating in chemsex?

Chemsex has been associated with negative mental health outcomes, including paranoid ideation, hallucinations, anxiety, depression, social isolation, psychosis, memory loss, personality change, and suicidal ideation [UNAIDS 2024].

Substance-induced psychosis: Episodic and chronic use of stimulants can lead to substance-induced psychosis. Individuals with substance-induced psychosis may experience paranoia, delusions, hearing voices, and tactile disturbances (e.g., feeling of bugs crawling on the skin). Individuals may present to emergency departments with substance-induced psychosis, which can lead to involuntary admission for psychiatric care. Substance-induced psychosis should not be equated with schizophrenia or schizoaffective disorder. Substance-induced psychosis can be episodic and self-limited or recurrent and



persistent. If stimulants are used over a long period, related psychosis may become a chronic condition. Compared with other stimulants, MA use carries the highest risk of associated psychosis [SAMHSA 1999]. When patients present with psychosis validate their emotional experiences (e.g., fear) without directly validating delusional thinking (e.g., paranoia) or perceptual disturbances (auditory or visual hallucinations). It is equally important to ensure that the appropriate treatment is provided or recommended, such as referring patients to and encouraging them to see psychiatrists and other mental health clinicians. The New York State Office of Mental Health offers a directory of mental health programs. In some cases, clinicians can consider prescribing short-term, as-needed benzodiazepines and antipsychotic medications, which may reduce distress and symptoms of psychosis [Coffin, et al. 2024; Searles Quick, et al. 2021; Patel, et al. 2019; Wilson, et al. 2012; SAMHSA 1999].

Co-occurring psychiatric conditions: It is important to screen for and treat any co-occurring psychiatric conditions (e.g., depression, schizophrenia, bipolar disorder, attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder, borderline personality disorder, eating disorders) in patients engaging in chemsex. Treating these conditions can reduce emotional dysregulation and impulsivity overall and improve decision-making in the context of sexual and substance use—related risks. Conversely, drugs used during chemsex can worsen co-occurring psychiatric conditions. For example, stimulant withdrawal can exacerbate co-occurring major depressive disorder (MDD) or cause depression, and even suicidality, in individuals without preexisting MDD.

Should I address consent and safety issues with patients participating in chemsex?

Although individuals who engage in chemsex are often stereotyped as perpetrators of violence and sexual assault, research suggests they are more likely to be victims of these crimes [Kramer, et al. 2012]. Delineations between kink and abuse and between boundaries and consent can blur in the context of chemsex. Individual experiences and beliefs around these topics vary. Maintain a neutral, nonjudgmental approach when discussing these subjects with patients. Encourage patients to reflect on their personal boundaries, what they are comfortable with, and how they will assert themselves in various situations before they engage in chemsex. For individuals who have experienced physical or sexual trauma, it can be helpful to provide resources for community supports and referrals for trauma-specific care.

ORESOURCES

Clinical Consultation

- Clinical Education Initiative (CEI) Line: 1-866-637-2342
- University of California San Francisco: <u>National Clinical</u> <u>Consultation Center</u> (1-855-300-3595)
- Opioid Response Network (submit a request)

Online Resources

- Terrence Higgins Trust: <u>Understanding Chemsex</u>
- 56 Dean Street: Chemsex Care Plan
- Chemsex Harm Reduction
- Boston Medical Center: <u>Educational Videos for Addiction</u> <u>Care Teams</u>

9

- Chicago Recovery Alliance: Chemsex Toolkit
- Crystal Meth Anonymous (CMA)
- Tweaker.org: Crystal and Sex
- Friends Getting Off
- UNAIDS and UNODC: Chemsex Toolkit
- Sidekicks.Berlin: GHB/GBL

References

Ahuja N, Schmidt M, Dillon PJ, et al. Online narratives of methamphetamine use and risky sexual behavior: can shame-free guilt aid in recovery? *Arch Sex Behav* 2021;50(1):323-32. [PMID: 32671499] https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/32671499

Amundsen E, Haugstvedt A, Skogen V, et al. Health characteristics associated with chemsex among men who have sex with men: results from a cross-sectional clinic survey in Norway. *PLoS One* 2022;17(10):e0275618. [PMID: 36197878] https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/36197878

Blomquist PB, Mohammed H, Mikhail A, et al. Characteristics and sexual health service use of MSM engaging in chemsex: results from a large online survey in England. *Sex Transm Infect* 2020;96(8):590-95. [PMID: 32139497] https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/32139497

Bohn A, Sander D, Kohler T, et al. Chemsex and mental health of men who have sex with men in Germany. *Front Psychiatry* 2020;11:542301. [PMID: 33329083] https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/33329083



- Brown JL, Gause NK, Northern N. The association between alcohol and sexual risk behaviors among college students: a review. *Curr Addict Rep* 2016;3(4):349-55. [PMID: 27896039] https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/27896039
- Buchacz K, McFarland W, Kellogg TA, et al. Amphetamine use is associated with increased HIV incidence among men who have sex with men in San Francisco. *AIDS* 2005;19(13):1423-24. [PMID: 16103774] https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/16103774
- Carrico AW, Pollack LM, Stall RD, et al. Psychological processes and stimulant use among men who have sex with men. *Drug Alcohol Depend* 2012;123(1-3):79-83. [PMID: 22088656] https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/22088656
- CDC. HIV surveillance supplemental report: estimated HIV incidence and prevalence in the United State, 2018-2022. 2024 May 21. https://stacks.cdc.gov/view/cdc/156513 [accessed 2024 Oct 18]
- Ciccarone D, Shoptaw S. Understanding stimulant use and use disorders in a new era. *Med Clin North Am* 2022;106(1):81-97. [PMID: 34823736] https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/34823736
- Coffin PO, Chang YG, McDaniel M, et al. Evaluation of methamphetamine assist packs: as-needed antipsychotics for self-management of methamphetamine-associated psychiatric toxicity. *Int J Drug Policy* 2024;129:104480. [PMID: 38861841] https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/38861841
- Colfax G, Santos GM, Chu P, et al. Amphetamine-group substances and HIV. *Lancet* 2010;376(9739):458-74. [PMID: 20650520] https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/20650520
- Coronado-Munoz M, Garcia-Cabrera E, Quintero-Florez A, et al. Sexualized drug use and chemsex among men who have sex with men in Europe: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *J Clin Med* 2024;13(6):1812. [PMID: 38542036] https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/38542036
- Evers YJ, Van Liere G, Hoebe C, et al. Chemsex among men who have sex with men living outside major cities and associations with sexually transmitted infections: a cross-sectional study in the Netherlands. *PLoS One* 2019;14(5):e0216732. [PMID: 31086390] https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/31086390
- Grov C, Parsons JT, Bimbi DS. Sexual compulsivity and sexual risk in gay and bisexual men. *Arch Sex Behav* 2010;39(4):940-49. [PMID: 19308715] https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/19308715
- Grov C, Westmoreland D, Morrison C, et al. The crisis we are not talking about: one-in-three annual HIV seroconversions among sexual and gender minorities were persistent methamphetamine users. *J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr* 2020;85(3):272-79. [PMID: 32740370] https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/32740370
- Guerras JM, Hoyos Miller J, Agusti C, et al. Association of sexualized drug use patterns with HIV/STI transmission risk in an internet sample of men who have sex with men from seven european countries. *Arch Sex Behav* 2021;50(2):461-77. [PMID: 32875382] https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/32875382
- Harding RW, Wagner KT, Fiuty P, et al. "It's called overamping": experiences of overdose among people who use methamphetamine. *Harm Reduct J* 2022;19(1):4. [PMID: 35034643] https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/35034643
- Harm Reduction International. Chemsex and harm reduction for gay men and other men who have sex with men. 2021 July. https://hri.global/wp-content/uploads/2022/10/HRI Briefing Chemsex July 2021 Final-1.pdf [accessed 2025 Feb 18]
- Heinala P, Alho H, Kiianmaa K, et al. Targeted use of naltrexone without prior detoxification in the treatment of alcohol dependence: a factorial double-blind, placebo-controlled trial. *J Clin Psychopharmacol* 2001;21(3):287-92. [PMID: 11386491] https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/11386491
- Hickson F. Chemsex as edgework: towards a sociological understanding. *Sex Health* 2018;15(2):102-7. [PMID: 29321096] https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/29321096
- Ivey K, Bernstein KT, Kirkcaldy RD, et al. Chemsex drug use among a national sample of sexually active men who have sex with men, American Men's Internet Survey, 2017-2020. Subst Use Misuse 2023;58(5):728-34. [PMID: 36872623] https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/36872623
- Jaspal R. Chemsex, identity and sexual health among gay and bisexual men. *Int J Environ Res Public Health* 2022;19(19):12124. [PMID: 36231424] https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/36231424
- Johnson PS, Sweeney MM, Herrmann ES, et al. Alcohol increases delay and probability discounting of condom-protected sex: a novel vector for alcohol-related HIV transmission. *Alcohol Clin Exp Res* 2016;40(6):1339-50. [PMID: 27129419] https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/27129419
- Kelly BC, Bimbi DS, Nanin JE, et al. Sexual compulsivity and sexual behaviors among gay and bisexual men and lesbian and bisexual women. *J Sex Res* 2009;46(4):301-8. [PMID: 19148829] https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/19148829
- Kleinman RA, Weiss RD. Benzodiazepine-involved overdose deaths in the USA: 2000-2019. *J Gen Intern Med* 2022;37(8):2103-9. [PMID: 35415793] https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/35415793
- Kloner RA, Goggin P, Goldstein I, et al. A new perspective on the nitrate-phosphodiesterase type 5 inhibitor interaction. *J Cardiovasc Pharmacol Ther* 2018;23(5):375-86. [PMID: 29739235] https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/29739235
- Kramer TL, Borders TF, Tripathi S, et al. Physical victimization of rural methamphetamine and cocaine users. *Violence Vict* 2012;27(1):109-24. [PMID: 22455188] https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/22455188
- Lawn W, Aldridge A, Xia R, et al. Substance-linked sex in heterosexual, homosexual, and bisexual men and women: an online, cross-sectional "Global Drug Survey" report. *J Sex Med* 2019;16(5):721-32. [PMID: 30952548] https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/30952548



- Miller WR, Rollnick S. Motivational interviewing: helping people change and grow. Applications of Motivational Interviewing; 2023. https://www.routledge.com/Motivational-Interviewing-Fourth-Edition-Helping-People-Change-and-Grow/Miller/p/book/9781462552795
- Moradi S, Moradi Y, Rahmani K, et al. The association between methamphetamine use and number of sexual partners in men who have sex with men: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Subst Abuse Treat Prev Policy* 2022;17(1):27. [PMID: 35397571] https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/35397571
- Nerlander LMC, Hoots BE, Bradley H, et al. HIV infection among MSM who inject methamphetamine in 8 US cities. *Drug Alcohol Depend* 2018;190:216-23. [PMID: 30055426] https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/30055426
- O'Halloran C, Rice B, White E, et al. Chemsex is not a barrier to self-reported daily PrEP adherence among PROUD study participants. *Int J Drug Policy* 2019;74:246-54. [PMID: 31739177] https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/31739177
- Ostrow DG, Plankey MW, Cox C, et al. Specific sex drug combinations contribute to the majority of recent HIV seroconversions among MSM in the MACS. *J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr* 2009;51(3):349-55. [PMID: 19387357] https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/19387357
- Patel J, Frankel S, Tampi RR. Evidence for using PRN pharmacotherapy to treat undifferentiated acute agitation or aggression. Ann Clin Psychiatry 2019;31(1):54-69. [PMID: 30699218] https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/30699218
- Pollard A, Nadarzynski T, Llewellyn C. Syndemics of stigma, minority-stress, maladaptive coping, risk environments and littoral spaces among men who have sex with men using chemsex. *Cult Health Sex* 2018;20(4):411-27. [PMID: 28741417] https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/28741417
- Rivera AV, Harriman G, Carrillo SA, et al. Trends in methamphetamine use among men who have sex with men in New York City, 2004-2017. *AIDS Behav* 2021;25(4):1210-18. [PMID: 33185774] https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/33185774
- SAMHSA. Treatment for stimulant use disorders: updated 2021. SAMHSA/CSAT Treatment Improvement Protocols; 1999. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/35041354
- Sang JM, Cui Z, Sereda P, et al. Longitudinal event-level sexual risk and substance use among gay, bisexual, and other men who have sex with men. *Int J Environ Res Public Health* 2021;18(6):3183. [PMID: 33808675] https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/33808675
- Santos GM, Ikeda J, Coffin P, et al. Targeted oral naltrexone for mild to moderate alcohol use disorder among sexual and gender minority men: a randomized trial. *Am J Psychiatry* 2022;179(12):915-26. [PMID: 36285404] https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/36285404
- Searles Quick VB, Herbst ED, Kalapatapu RK. Which emergent medication should I give next? Repeated use of emergent medications to treat acute agitation. *Front Psychiatry* 2021;12:750686. [PMID: 34950067] https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/34950067
- Sewell J, Cambiano V, Miltz A, et al. Changes in recreational drug use, drug use associated with chemsex, and HIV-related behaviours, among HIV-negative men who have sex with men in London and Brighton, 2013-2016. Sex Transm Infect 2018;94(7):494-501. [PMID: 29700052] https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/29700052
- Sewell J, Cambiano V, Speakman A, et al. Changes in chemsex and sexual behaviour over time, among a cohort of MSM in London and Brighton: findings from the AURAH2 study. *Int J Drug Policy* 2019;68:54-61. [PMID: 30999243] https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/30999243
- Siddiq M, O'Flanagan H, Richardson D, et al. Factors associated with sexually transmitted shigella in men who have sex with men: a systematic review. Sex Transm Infect 2023;99(1):58-63. [PMID: 36283806] https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/36283806
- Stevens O, Moncrieff M, Gafos M. Chemsex-related drug use and its association with health outcomes in men who have sex with men: a cross-sectional analysis of Antidote clinic service data. Sex Transm Infect 2020;96(2):124-30. [PMID: 31171592] https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/31171592
- Tori ME, Larochelle MR, Naimi TS. Alcohol or benzodiazepine co-involvement with opioid overdose deaths in the United States, 1999-2017. *JAMA Netw Open* 2020;3(4):e202361. [PMID: 32271389] https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/32271389
- UNAIDS. Chemsex toolkit: for clinical service providers in the Asia-Pacific region. 2024 Oct 28. https://unaids-ap.org/wp-content/uploads/2024/11/chemsex-toolkit-for-clinical-service-providers-in-the-asia-pacific-region 05112024.pdf [accessed 2025 Feb 18]
- Wagner KD, Fiuty P, Page K, et al. Prevalence of fentanyl in methamphetamine and cocaine samples collected by community-based drug checking services. *Drug Alcohol Depend* 2023;252:110985. [PMID: 37826988] https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/37826988
- Wilson MP, Pepper D, Currier GW, et al. The psychopharmacology of agitation: consensus statement of the American Association for Emergency Psychiatry project Beta Psychopharmacology Workgroup. West J Emerg Med 2012;13(1):26-34. [PMID: 22461918] https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/22461918



Supplement: Guideline Development and Recommendation Ratings

Table S1: Guideline Development: New York State Department of Health AIDS Institute Clinical Guidelines Program	
Developer	New York State Department of Health AIDS Institute (NYSDOH AI) Clinical Guidelines Program
Funding source	NYSDOH AI
Program manager	Clinical Guidelines Program, Johns Hopkins University School of Medicine, Division of Infectious Diseases. See Program Leadership and Staff .
Mission	To produce and disseminate evidence-based, state-of-the-art clinical practice guidelines that establish uniform standards of care for practitioners who provide prevention or treatment of HIV, viral hepatitis, other sexually transmitted infections, and substance use disorders for adults throughout New York State in the wide array of settings in which those services are delivered.
Expert committees	The NYSDOH AI Medical Director invites and appoints committees of clinical and public health experts from throughout New York State to ensure that the guidelines are practical, immediately applicable, and meet the needs of care providers and stakeholders in all major regions of New York State, all relevant clinical practice settings, key New York State agencies, and community service organizations.
Committee structure	 Leadership: Al-appointed chair, vice chair(s), chair emeritus, clinical specialist(s), JHU Guidelines Program Director, Al Medical Director, Al Clinical Consultant, AVAC community advisor
	Contributing members
	Guideline writing groups: Lead author, coauthors if applicable, and all committee leaders
Disclosure and management of conflicts of interest	 Annual disclosure of financial relationships with commercial entities for the 12 months prior and upcoming is required of all individuals who work with the guidelines program, and includes disclosure for partners or spouses and primary professional affiliation.
	 The NYSDOH AI assesses all reported financial relationships to determine the potential for undue influence on guideline recommendations and, when indicated, denies participation in the program or formulates a plan to manage potential conflicts. Disclosures are listed for each committee member.
Evidence collection and review	 Literature search and review strategy is defined by the guideline lead author based on the defined scope of a new guideline or update.
	 A comprehensive literature search and review is conducted for a new guideline or an extensive update using PubMed, other pertinent databases of peer-reviewed literature, and relevant conference abstracts to establish the evidence base for guideline recommendations.
	 A targeted search and review to identify recently published evidence is conducted for guidelines published within the previous 3 years.
	 Title, abstract, and article reviews are performed by the lead author. The JHU editorial team collates evidence and creates and maintains an evidence table for each guideline.
Recommendation development	 The lead author drafts recommendations to address the defined scope of the guideline based on available published data.
	 Writing group members review the draft recommendations and evidence and deliberate to revise, refine, and reach consensus on all recommendations.
	 When published data are not available, support for a recommendation may be based on the committee's expert opinion.
	 The writing group assigns a 2-part rating to each recommendation to indicate the strength of the recommendation and quality of the supporting evidence. The group reviews the evidence, deliberates, and may revise recommendations when required to reach consensus.



Table S1: Guideline Development: New York State Department of Health AIDS Institute Clinical Guidelines Program Review and approval Following writing group approval, draft guidelines are reviewed by all contributors, program process liaisons, and a volunteer reviewer from the AI Community Advisory Committee. • Recommendations must be approved by two-thirds of the full committee. If necessary to achieve consensus, the full committee is invited to deliberate, review the evidence, and revise recommendations. Final approval by the committee chair and the NYSDOH AI Medical Director is required for publication. **External reviews** External review of each guideline is invited at the developer's discretion. External reviewers recognized for their experience and expertise review guidelines for accuracy, balance, clarity, and practicality and provide feedback. **Update process** • JHU editorial staff ensure that each guideline is reviewed and determined to be current upon the 3-year anniversary of publication; guidelines that provide clinical recommendations in rapidly changing areas of practice may be reviewed annually. Published literature is surveilled to identify new evidence that may prompt changes to existing recommendations or development of new recommendations. If changes in the standard of care, newly published studies, new drug approval, new drugrelated warning, or a public health emergency indicate the need for immediate change to published guidelines, committee leadership will make recommendations and immediate updates and will invite full committee review as indicated.

Table S2: Recommendation Ratings and Definitions			
Strength	Quality of Evidence		
A: Strong B: Moderate	1	Based on published results of at least 1 randomized clinical trial with clinical outcomes or validated laboratory endpoints.	
C: Optional	*	Based on either a self-evident conclusion; conclusive, published, in vitro data; or wellestablished practice that cannot be tested because ethics would preclude a clinical trial.	
	2	Based on published results of at least 1 well-designed, nonrandomized clinical trial or observational cohort study with long-term clinical outcomes.	
	2†	Extrapolated from published results of well-designed studies (including nonrandomized clinical trials) conducted in populations other than those specifically addressed by a recommendation. The source(s) of the extrapolated evidence and the rationale for the extrapolation are provided in the guideline text. One example would be results of studies conducted predominantly in a subpopulation (e.g., one gender) that the committee determines to be generalizable to the population under consideration in the guideline.	
	3	Based on committee expert opinion, with rationale provided in the guideline text.	